

National Library of Canada

**Canadian Theses Service** 

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

## Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Service des thèses canadiennes

# NOTICE

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. AVIS

La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumisé au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, tests publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30.



THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

Digital Mapping Techniques to Determine Dall's Sheep Winter Habitat in the

Yukon Territory

Lauren K. Crooks

BY-

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE

OF Master of Science

Department of Seography

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

Fall, 1988

Permission has been granted to the National Library of Canada to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.

The author (copyright owner) has reserved other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise, reproduced without his/her written permission. L'autorisation a été accordée à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de microfilmer cette thèse et der prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.

L'auteur (titulaire du droit d'auteur) se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni là thèse ni de Tongs extraits de celle-ci, ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation écrite.

ISBN '0-315-45762-7

# THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

#### RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR Lauren K. Crooks

TITLE OF THESIS Digital Mapping Techniques to Determine Dall's

Sheep Winter Habitat in the Yukon Territory

DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESENTED Master of Science

YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED 1988

Permission is hereby granted to THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific purposes

only.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

(SIGNED) Lawren Crooks PERMANENT ADDRESS: Edmonton, alberta

T66 0X9

DATED. Oct. 1319.88

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled Digital Mapping Techniques to Determine Dall's Sheep Winter Habitat in the Yukon Territory submitted by Lauren K. Crooks in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science.

. Oct. 7/88.. Date:

The four major parameters defining Dall's sheep (Ovis dalli dalli) winter habitat are: (1) moderate to steep slopes, (2) south-facing slopes, (3) snow-free vegetated areas, and (4) proximity to escape terrain. This study compared known sheep wintering areas to digital terrain data and winter Langsat data to determine the limits of the first three parameters. Proximity to escape terrain was not investigated. Slope azimuth and slope magnitude terrain data sets were developed and used to determine the limits of the first two parameters. Snow-free areas were identified using Landsat Thematic Mapper band 1 (blue) data registered to a regular digital elevation model. A map overlay and intersection technique was used to map combinations of these parameters. The results were as follows: (1) slope magnitude (3° - 37°) was not a limiting factor in determining Dall's sheep winter habitat, however, the slope magnitude range eliminated some areas from consideration; (2) slope azimuth (110° - 260°) was the dominant controlling factor in determining Dall's sheep winter habitat; (3) snow-free areas were not a significant factor for defining Dall's sheep winter habitat. Snow depth may be a factor, but temporal Landsat data is required to define this

ABSTRAC

parameter.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Ron Eyton, for inspiration, support and encouragement. Thanks also to my other two committee members, Dr. Greg Henry and Bill Wishart, for their interest and constructive critisism.

I would like to acknowledge the Yukon Department of Renewable Resources for their financial support through purchase of my Landsat data and for providing the data from the March, 1987 Dall's sheep winter habitat survey. The Yukon Weather Office kindly provided Yukon weather data. Thanks to Harry Stelfox (Alberta Fish and Wildlife) for valuable input during the early stages of my thesis and to Manfred Hoefs and Norman Barichello (Yukon Fish and Wildlife) for sharing their knowledge of Dall's sheep in the Yukon.

The technical computer knowledge and assistance so patiently given by Dan Hemenway and Randy Pakan's efficient and quality photographic assistance, especially when time was of the essence, were greatly appreciated.

Thanks to my fellow members of the "Round Ron Fan Club" Who provided camaraderie and to my other friends in Geography. A special thanks to Beth Hawkings for her support and keen interest in my thesis and to Ross McLachlan for help when it was most needed.

Finally, thank you to my family for their moral support and understanding during my Master's program.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

۰,

CHAPI	TER	ľ.		PAGE
I	INTRODUCTION	• • • • • •	••••	1
II	WILDLIFE HARTTAT	• • • • • •	••••	3
	Background			
<i>i</i> .	Dall's Sneep Winter Habitat			6
	Watson/Wheaton Study Area		• • • • •	
III	DATABASE DEVELOPMENT	• • • • • •	<b></b>	
	Digital Terrain Data	••••	••••	13
	Habitat Polygons	••••		14
	Landsat Data	··· <b>}</b>		
IV	ANALYSIS AND MAPPING OF DALL'S SHEEP	WINTE	R HABI	<b>TAT</b> 19
1	Slope, gnitude		• • • • • •	20
	Slope Azimuth	••••	• • • • • •	
	Snow-free Sites		•••••	
	Identification of Potential Shee Winter Habitat Areas	≥p		
v	SUMMARY			
REFE	ERENCES CITED		• • • • •	

vi

# LIST OF TABLES

	Table		Page	•
	1.	Average Climate Data for Carcross, Yukon Territory (1951-1980)	10	· ·
•	2.	March, 1987 Weather Summary for Carcross, Yukon Territory	11	
	3.	Average March Wind Data for Whitehouse, Yukon Territory (1953-1978)	, 12	•
•	4.	Areal Extent of Habitat Parameters	23	
	5.	Frequency of Snow-free Pixels for Habitat Polygons	33	7

#### LIST OF FIGURES

#### Figure

1.

3

- Perspective plot of the smoothed DEM with 5X vertical exaggeration. The viewing perspective is from the SSE (azimuth=157.5°) at an observer altitude of 60°.
- Digital mask overlaid in black on a hillshaded map. Illumination is from the northwest (azimuth=315°) at a solar altitude of 45°.
- 3. Frequency distributions of slope magnitude for (a) the entire study area, and (b) the sheep winter habitat polygons.
  - . Gray scale map of the slope magnitude distribution for the study area. Light tones indicate steep slopes and dark tones indicate gentle slopes.
- 5. Single class map showing the distribution of slope magnitude characterizing Dall's sheep winter habitat in black. The boundaries of the habitat polygons are overfaid in white.
- 6. Frequency distributions of slope azimuth for (a) the entire study area, and (b) the sheep winter habitat polygons. The radial lines represent 10° intervals of slope azimuth, the ràdial rings represent 0.5% frequency intervals, and the outer ring indicates 4% frequency.
- 7. Gray scale map of the slope azimuth distribution for the study area. North-facing slopes are black, west-facing slopes are dark gray, east-facing slopes are medium gray, south-facing slopes are light gray, and flat areas are white.
- 8. Single class map of slope/azimuth range defining Dall's sheep winter habitat overlaid in black on the hillshaded map. The boundaries of the habitat polygons are added in white.

Page

15

17

22<sup>`</sup>

21 .

24

27

26

Single class map of snow-free, non-forested sites shown in black overlaid on the hillshaded map. The boundaries of the habitat polygons are overlaid in white on the single class map.

9.

- 10. Single class map of slope magnitude and slope azimuth ranges characterizing Dall's sheep winter habitat overlaid in black on the hillshaded map. The boundaries of the habitat polygons are overlaid in white.
- 11. Single class map of slope magnitude and slope azimuth ranges characterizing Dall's sheep winter habitat and the snow-free, non-forested sites. The single class is shown in black on the hillshaded map and the habitat polygons are shown as white boundaries.

ix

36

31

The identification of important wildlife habitats in the Yukon Territory has been limited by the vast areal extent of the land, the inaccessibility, and the associated costs of conducting field work in remote locations. Professional wildlife management has a history of less than twenty years in the Yukon Territory (Hoefs and Barichello, 1985). Demands on the land in terms of land use development, utilization of renewable and non-renewable resources, and native land claims are increasing. Land planners and wildlife managers urgently need quality base-level data at various scales to incorporate into the decision making process.

Present methods of information gathering on wildlife habitats are time consuming and costly (Holroyd, 1980; Jacobsen, 1980; Stelfox, 1980), and the existing data are unorganized and not easily retrieved. More efficient methods are required for effective management. The integration of digital satellite data with digital terrain data for habitat mapping would be an appropriate methodology for the Yukon Territory. Digital databases acquired with this new technology are easily updated and permit automated data analysis. Information extraction is consistent, accurate, and cost-effective. Overall, there is a smaller primary data acquisition cost, the information is relatively easy to acquire, and data are available for large inaccessible areas for any seadon of the year.

This thesis demonstrates how digital mapping techniques can be applied to the spatial analysis of Dall's sheep (Ovis dalli <u>dalli</u>) winter habitat, in the Yukon Territory. The overall objective of the research was to investigate the integration of digital terrain data with digital satellite data as a tool for habitat management. Specific objectives involved the development and analysis of digital databases for the quantitative evaluation and modeling of Dall's sheep winter habitat, and included the following:

1. to develop terrain data sets describing the distributions of slope magnitude and slope azimuth;

2. to use the terrainedata sets to obtain the quantitative parameters defining Dall's sheep winter habitat;

3. to determine snow-free areas from digital satellite imagery;

4.' to identify potential sheep winter habitat areas using the process of map overlay and intersection of the terrain distributions (slope magnitude and slope azimuth) and the snow-

#### IL. WILDLIFE HABITAT

## Background

Hapitat maps are used to delineate areas which provide all of the requirements necessary for the survival and prosperity of a species. Conventional mapping and analysis of habitat has been comprised mainly of field work, interviewing of knowledgeable people, low-altitude aerial surveys, interpretation of aerial photographs, and manual data analysis (Holroyd, 1980; Jacobsen, 1980; Stelfox, 1980). These techniques are labor-intensive and expensive.

Recently, satellite imagery has been recognized as an economical and laborsaving alternative to conventional data gathering methods for habitat mapping and analysis. Geometrically-corrected digital satellite imagery provides a cost-effective means for incorporating resource data into the planning and management processes (Henderson, 1984; Ihemadu, 1985). Digital satellite data has been used to evaluate the vegetation component of habitats for mammals, such as moose in Alaska (Laperriere et al., 1980) and Manitoba (Dixon et al., 1984), caribou in the Northwest Territories (Thompson et al., 1980), and grizzly bear in Montana and Alaska (Craighead et al., 1985). Digital terrain data has mainly been used as a tool in habitat mapping to improve classification accuracy of digital satellite data (e.g. Hutchinson, 1982). For example, Craighead et al. (1982) used digital terrain data to separate Landsat-derived vegetation zones by elevation for the mapping of grizzly bear habitat in Montana.

To achieve truly representative habitat maps for alpine mammals, relevant ancillary terrain data (elevation, slope magnitude, and slope azimuth) must be incorporated into the habitat classification and mapping process. A study conducted by Stefanovic and Wiersema (1985) in the European Alps, demonstrated the utility of digital terrain data for modeling insolation as the principal parameter in alpine ibex habitat. Terrain parameters were more important to this species of wild goat than vegetation types (Stefanovic and Wiersema, 1985). Similarly, Dall's sheep distributions are also considerably influenced by terrain parameters (Nichols, 1978). After an exhaustive search of the literature, only one example could be found of the digital mapping of terrain and land-cover components of habitat using integrated satellite image data and terrain data. Bonner et al. (1982) used elevation, slope magnitude, and Landsat-derived vegetation data sets to produce a map of potential bighorn sheep habitat.

Most of the published literature concerning the incorporation of digital satellite data into habitat mapping has utilized summer imagery to provide vegetation information. Comparatively little work has been undertaken using digital winter imagery for snow-cover mapping. Snow cover is one of the most significant factors governing the survival of northern ungulates (Formozov, 1946; Pruitt, 1959; Skogland, 1978; Telfer and Kelsall, 1979), and thus the identification of snow-free areas is imperative

information needed for proper management practices (Jaques, 1982). Wiersema (1983), in a study focused on ibex habitat, employed three techniques for detection of snow-free areas in a Landsat Multispectral Scanner System (MSS) scene acquired over the French and Italian Alps. These techniques included: (1) an unsupervised approach to digital classification to locate snowfree migration routes; (2) a visual interpretation of Landsat band 5 (red) brightness maps to determine snow-cover boundaries and transient snow lines; and (3) a visual interpretation of false colour composites to locate snow-free vegetated areas. Jaques (1982) investigated four techniques for identifying nonforested snow-free areas as potential critical winter habitat for native ungulates in the Rocky Mountains of Alberta using Landsat MSS data. The four image analysis techniques were: (1) the visual interpretation of color infrared composite images; (2) single theme density slicing for each MSS band; (3) an unsupervised approach to multispectral cluster analysis; and (4) a multitemporal classification approach where a summer scene was used to classify non-forested areas and a winter scene was used to identify snow-free areas. Jaques (1982) concluded that the fourth approach produced the most accurate maps of critical, winter range.

#### Dall's Sheep Winter Habitat

Dall's sheep along with Stone's sheep (<u>Ovis dalli</u> <u>stonei</u>) are subspecies of the thinhorn species (<u>Ovis dalli</u>) of North American sheep (Nichols, 1978). Dall's sheep are found in Alaska, the Yukon Territory, the Northwest Territories, and the extreme northwestern part of British Columbia (Nichols, 1978). The Yukon Territory contains the "Targest wild sheep population of any jurisdiction in Canada" (Hoefs and Barichello, 1985:16). Hoefs and Barichello (1985) estimated the Dall's sheep population in the Yukon Territory at 19,000.

Dall's sheep habitat lies almost entirely above tree line and consists of steep, dry, south-facing grassland slopes interspersed with broken cliffs and talus slopes (Geist, 1971; Hoefs, 1974; Nichols, 1978; Hoefs and Cowan, 1979). There are four major parameters that define Dall's sheep winter habitat (Hoefs, pers.comm., 1987; Barichello, pers. comm., 1987): (1) moderate to steep slopes, (2) southfacing slopes, (3) snow-free vegetated areas, and (4) proximity to escape terrain (Geist, 1971; Hoefs, 1974; Nichols, 1978; Hoefs and Cowan, 1979). These parameters have all been previously expressed in qualitative terms. This thesis addressed the first three parameters defining winter habitat using digital terrain data and satellite data.

The vegetation types associated with Dall's sheep

winter habitat were not examined in this study. The major vegetation types consumed by Dall's sheep are associated with dry, exposed, alpine grasslands (Hoefs and Cowan, 1979). These grassland associations are found mainly on south-facing slopes, and therefore the identification of the vegetation component is a consequence of the identification of south-facing slopes. The fourth parameter, proximity to escape terrain, was also excluded from this project. Digitally defining and quantifying escape terrain is a complex process and warrants a separate study. No such study has yet been attempted.

Winter is one of the most critical times in the life cycle of Dall's sheep. From late winter until spring very little food is available and the sheep depend heavily on stored body fat for nutritional needs. During this period the population is concentrated in areas where snow-free feeding sites are found in close proximity to escape terrain (Nichols, 1978; Hoefs and Cowan, 1979). Winter range is limited by snow conditions to a very small portion of the overall range (Nichols, 1978). In early winter the snow is soft and sheep can paw through to the vegetation (Geist, 1971; Nichols, 1978; Hoefs and Cowan, 1978). In late winter,

however, the snow is often wind packed and penetrable. Consequently, in late winter sheep depend on the steep, south-facing, and/or wind-scoured ridges that remain snow free (Nichols, 1978; Hoefs and Cowan, 1979), making this the

critical time to detect snow-free areas.

# Watson/Wheaton Study Area

The study area is situated within the planning region designated by the Yukon Department of Renewable Resources as the Watson/Wheaton Pilot Project. A helicopter survey conducted within this region during March, 1987 served as the basis for this research. The study area is located approximately 25 km south of the city of Whitehorse, and is bounded in the south by the British Columbia/Yukon Territory border. Located between latitudes 60°00' and 60°30' north and between longitudes 134°44' and 135°48' west, this 3267 km<sup>2</sup> area encompasses approximately one quarter of the National Topographic Series (NTS) 1:250,000 map 105D. Dimensions of the study area are 55 km in the north-south direction by 59.4 km in the east-west direction.

Situated within the Coast Mountains Ecoregion (Oswald and Senyk, 1977), the terrain is very rugged, ranging in elevation from 650 m asl at Lake Bennett to over 2500 m asl in the southern part of the mountains with several icecovered peaks above 2400 m asl. The Coast Mountains Ecoregion falls within the discontinuous scattered permafrost subzone, much of the areas lies above treeline (Oswald and Senyk, 1977), and the climate is subarctic continental (Wahl et al., 1987). A low sun angle and long winter nights are typical for this latitude with less than six hours of sunshine received on December 21 at a maximum solar elevation of 6° (Wahl et al., 1987). IN Carcross, the nearest meteorological station to the study area, the average annual snowfall is 101.3 cm, with most snow falling between November and March (Table 1). January is the coldest month with temperatures averaging -19.8°C (range -15.1°C to -24.8°C). The mean March temperature is -8.3°C (-1.8°C to -14.8°C) with a mean snowfall of 10.2 cm (Atmospheric Environment Service, 1982a). Average snow-depth data is not available for Carcross.

Table 2 contains a summary of the weather data for March 1987, the period pertaining to this study. The mean temperature during March, 1987 was -12.0 °C (range 6.0 °C to -35.5 °C) with 7 cm of snow falling for a total snow depth of 15 cm (Atmospheric Environment Service, 1987). According to Wahl et al. (1987), snow depths reach their maximum by early to mid-April at elevations greater than 1000 m in the southern part of the Yukon Territory. The closest meteorological station with wind data is Whitehorse. In March, the prevailing wind direction varies from southeast to south, with average wind speeds of 19.7 km/h from the southeast and 17.2 km/h from the south (Table 3). Dominant wind directions over the interior Yukon Territory coincide mainly with the valley orientations (Wahl et al., 1987). Average Climate Data for Carcross, Yukon Territory (1951-1980)

						4	Month						
	Jan.	Feb.	Mar.	Apr.	May	June	July	Aug.	Sept	Se	Nov.	Dec	Year
Daily maximum temperature (°C)	-15.1	L.L-	-1.8	5.6	11.5	16.7	18.9	17.9	12.3	5.1	-3.9	-3.9 -11.2	4.0
Daily minimum temperature (°C)	-24.8	-18.7	-14.8	-5.9	-0.5	4.6	6.4	4.9	1.4	-3.2	-12.0	-19.8	6.9
Daily mean temperature (°C)	-19.8	-13.2	-8°.3	-0.2	5.5	10.7	12.7	11.4	6.9	0.9	6.1-	-15.5	<b>-1.4</b>
Rainfall (mm)	0.2	1.0	0.0	1.8	11.5	14.9	19.2	21.2	19.8	12.8	4.7	<b>11.6</b>	118.7
Snowfall (cm)	24.2	17.8	10.2	4.3	0.3	0.4	0.0	0.0	2.4	4.8	18.2	18.7	101.3
Total * precipitation (mm)	19.4	16.5	12.6	6.5	11.8	15.0	19.2	21.2	21.8	20.4	22.9	24.1	211.4
Days with precipitation	9	9	4	7	4	9	7	7	7	L	• ∞	∞	72

\* Rainfall + water equivalent of snowfall.

ø

Source: Atmospheric Environment Service (1982a).

**o** .

•

TABLE 2           March, 1987 Weather Summan           for Carcross, Yukon Territor		
Snowfall (cm)	7.0	
Snowdepth (cm)	15.0	
Maximum temperature (°C)	6.0	
Minimum temperature (°C)	-35.5	
Mean temperature (°C)	-12.0	

11

·----

Source: Atmospheric Environment Service (1987).

5 IS

Wind direction '	% frequency	Average wind speed (km/h)
NNE	0.6	12.3
NE	0.3	<b>.</b>
ENE	0.1	9.7
E	0.5	. 10.6
ESE	1.6	18.0
SE	14.9	19.8
SSE	17.8	20.2
S	14.7	16.8
SSW a	2.3	16.1
SW	2.4	11.9
WSW	1.6	10.9
W	3.2	8.7
WNW	2.3	9.9
' NW	11.4	13.6
NNW	6.7	14.9
N	7.3	13.5
Calm	12.3 👌	· · · · ·
All directions		14.3

TABLE 3Average March Wind Data forWhitehorse, Yukon Territory (1953-1978)

Source: Atmospheric Environment Service (1982b)

# III. DATABASE DEVELOPMENT

# · Digital Terrain Data

Digital topographic information in the form of a generated grid of elevations or a digital elevation model (DEM) was required for this research. A portion of a 1:250,000 National Topographic Series (NTS) map was digitized using the Interactive Graphic Design System (IGDS) software developed by the Intergraph Corporation, running on a VAX-11/730 minicomputer. Each 500 foot contour was digitized using point mode sampling. Large flat areas were supplemented by digitizing additional contours and points from 1:50,000 NTS maps of the area.

The digitized lines, comprised of X and Y coordinates and their associated Z (elevation) values, resulted in a total of. 27383 sets of triplets. To create a regular grid of elevation values, these triplets were surfaced using a multiquadric equation algorithm based on an analytical interpolation approach developed by Hardy (1971) and implemented in roving form by Eytoh and Hemenway (1987). The number of calculations performed by this surfacing routine is quite extensive; approximately 23 hours of CPU time on a VAX-11/730 were required. The resulting DEM contained 550 rows and 594 columns with each grid cell covering a 100 m by 100 m area on the ground. Multiquadric surfacing was used because the equations were designed for topographic expression where the fitted surface must pass through all of the observation points exactly.(Hardy, 1971). The DEM was then

smoothed once using a low-pass spatial filter to remove local irregularities. Figure 1 shows a perspective plot of the smoothed DEM. Latitude, longitude, and north are indicated on this figure. Where appropriate, the rest of the figures are oriented with north at the top.

Derivative products obtained from the DEM supplied the necessary information regarding landscape geometry. Slope magnitude and slope azimuth data sets were derived from the smoothed DEM using an algorithm developed by Eyton (1987a). This algorithm employs the method of finite differences applied to a 3 x 3 neighborhood to obtain the slope magnitude and slope azimuth components of the first spatial derivative. The derived data sets were identical in size and locational reference to the original grid of elevation values. These data sets were used to quantify the first two parameters defining Dall's sheep winter habitat: slope magnitude and slope azimuth. A hillshaded map, based on a Lambertian reflectance model (Eyton, 1988), was created from the slope and azimuth data sets and used as a map base for most of the illustrations presented in this study.

#### Habitat Polygons

Dall's sheep winter habitat areas (polygons) were delineated on a 1:100,000 topographic map during a helicopter survey conducted by Yukon Territorial Government biologists on March 19 and 25, 1987. The helicopter survey covered all known winter ranges of Dall's sheep within the study area (Hoefs, pers. comm.,

FIGURE 1. Perspective plot of the smoothed DEM (with 5X vertical exaggeration) of the Watson/Wheaton study area, Yukon Territory. The viewing perspective is from the SSE (azimuth=157.5°) at an observer altitude of  $60^{\circ}$ .

60°00' N

M. 53. 6.

1987). This survey was described by Hoefs (pers. comm., 1987) as a complete but low intensity survey; the entire area was flown, but with only a single pass. In this survey, the locations of the polygons were based on sightings of sheep or concentrations of tracks. The field expertise of the biologist was of paramount importance in determining the polygon boundaries. Areas which Yukon biologists indicated were marginal winter habitat were excluded from this study.

Forty-eight polygons from the 1:100,000 map were digitized, and a binary (sheep/no sheep) digital mask was produced using a vector-to-raster procedure (Eyton, 1987b). The digital mask registered with the digital terrain data sets. Figure 2 shows the digital mask overlaid on the hillshaded map to indicate the location of the Dall's sheep winter habitat polygons. The digital mask was used to extract information for the winter habitat polygons from the digital elevation model and from the slope magnitude and slope azimuth derivative models.

## Landsat Data

62

A Landsat Thematic Mapper (TM) image (#51111-193421) was obtained for March 17, 1987. The satellite pass occurred two days prior to the winter aerial survey from which the sheep winter habitat polygons were delineated. The Landsat digital data was used to identify snow-free areas within the study area. The image data was initially processed using the CAL 3 linear radiometric calibration process at the Prince Albert Satellite Station. This



FIGURE 2. Digital mask overlaid in black on a hillshaded map of the Watson/Wheaton study area, Yukon Territory. Illumination is from the northwest (azimuth=315°) at a solar altitude of 45°. 

procedure retains the majority of the dynamic range of brightness values, providing improved coverage of bright and dark extremes (Ahern and Murphy, 1978; Ahern, 1979; Ahern et al., 1987). To achieve registration with the other digital data sets, the image quadrant was subset and geometrically corrected to a Universal Transverse Mercator projection. The pixels were resampled to 100 m grid cells using nearest-neighbor interpolation; overall accuracy of the registration was approximately 33 meters (the difference between the estimated and the actual row and column coordinates of the 18 ground control points in the original image). The nearest-neighbor method is the preferred technique if the new image is to be classified since it then consists of the original pixel brightnesses, simply rearganged in position to give a correct image geometry" (Richards, 1986:53). These transformations, were conducted at the Alberta Remote Sensing Center using the DIPIX LCT-11 (ARIES 11) digital image analysis system.

18

The Landsat TM quadrant encompassed the majority of the study area, excluding the extreme northeast corner. Data dropouts in lines or groups of pixels were present in all bands due to equipment failure during transmission from satellite to remiving station. One particularly large dropout, 16 entire lines, was flagged to indicate missing data. IV. ANALYSIS AND MAPPING OF DALL'S SHEEP WINTER HABITAT

24.67

Two objectives of this research were to quantitatively define (1) the terrain limits, and (2) the snow-free areas for Dall's sheep winter habitat. Once these quantitative parameters were established, a map overlay and intersection process was used to achieve the third and final objective; (3) the identification of potential sheep winter habitat areas in the study area. A brief overview of the procedure is given below to clarify the detaileddiscussion which follows.

The digital mask, indicating the location of Dall's sheep from the March, 1987 aerial survey, was used to extract the slope magnitude and slope azimuth values characterizing sheep habitat from the terrain data sets. These distributions were first plotted as histograms and the limits defining the range of each distribution was determined by removing outliers. These outliers were likely due to measurement error, however, even if they were not, removal was justified because there is a low probability of their occurrence. The limits defining the maximum and minimum of this range are called clipping levels or threshold values. This project involved the overlay and intersection of multiple data layers, therefore, a liberal approach for determining clipping levels was adopted. The slope magnitude and slope azimuth ranges, and snow-free sites characterizing sheep winter habitat were then used to identify potential winter areas within the study area for sheep which were not identified in the March, 1987 aerial surgey.

#### Slope Magnitude

The distribution of slope magnitude values for each grid cell of the study area (Figure 3a) shows an abundance of gentle slopes and comparatively few steep slopes. Within the study area there is a marked concentration of slopes with less than 10° magnitude and a very low frequency of slopes above 45°. The steepest slopes within the region are approximately 56° magnitude. A gray scale map of the slope magnitude distribution for the entire area is shown in Figure 4.

The slope magnitude distribution characterizing sheep winter. habitat (Figure 3b) differs markedly from the distribution of slope gignitude for the entire study area (Figure 3a). The histo am in Figure 3b shows a positively skewed distribution, a pronounced mode with a frequency of 4.4% occurring at 23°, and a large variation about the mode. Removal of data outliers was accomplished by excluding slope values having a frequency of occurrence of less than 1% resulting in approximately 2% and 4% of the slope magnitude observations being excluded from the left and right ends of the distribution, respectively. This 1%frequency cutoff produced a slope magnitude range of 3° to  $37^{\circ}$  . This range was characteristic of approximately 94% of the Dall's sheep winter habitat area (Table 4). Grid cells with values between 3° and 37° were extracted from the slope magnitude data set and displayed as a black tone. The boundaries (in white) of the sheep winter habitat polygons were overlaid on the singleclass map shown in Figure 5. This map shows the areal extent of



FIGURE 3. Frequency distributions of slope magnitude for (a) the entire study area, and (b) the sheep winter habitat polygons.



FIGURE 4. Gray scale map of the slope magnitude distribution for the study area. Light tones indicate steep slopes and dark tones indicate gentle slopes.

Habitat parameter(s)	% of polygon area accounted for by habitat parameter	% of study area encompassed by habitat parameter
Slope magnitude*	94.1	80.7
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Slope azimuth**	70.4	37.6
Snow-free, non-forested areas	12.1	9.6
	•	
Slope magnitude*/ slope azimuth**	68.7	30.6
Slope magnitude*/slope	•	·
azimuth**/snow-free, non-forested areas	• 4.9	1.5

 TABLE 4

 Areal Extent of Habitat Parameters

\*\* range: 110\* - 260\*

Ö

a 15



# March I



FIGURE 5. Single-class map of the study area showing the distribution of slope magnitude characterizing Dall's sheep winter habitat in black. The boundaries of the habitat polygons are overlaid in white. the slope magnitude range characterizing sheep winter habitat. The range of acceptable slope magnitude values is quite large, encompassing 81% of the study area (Table 4), thus slope magnitude was not an important parameter for defining winter habitat within this area. The slope magnitude range, however, did eliminate some areas from consideration as potential sheep winter habitat in the last part of the analysis.

# Slope Azimuth

. No

606

The percent frequency of grid cells (covering the entire study area) for each degree of slope azimuth was plotted as a circular histogram (Figure 6a). The distribution indicates that the topography is not predominantly oriented in a specific direction, however, there is a slight tendency for slopes to be northwest or southeast oriented. A gray scale map of slope azimuth for the entire area is shown in Figure 7. This gray scale map illustrates the global variation of slope azimuth within the study area and corroborates what is shown in the histogram; no dominant orientation is apparent.

The frequency of slope azimuth grid cells characterizing Dall's sheep winter habitat were plotted as a circular histogram in Figure 6b. In contrast to Figure 6a, this graph exhibits a very pronounced trend of south-facing slopes, especially southwest-facing slopes. Inspection of the graph indicates two primary modes occurring at 127.5° and 142.5° with approximately 3.5% frequency of occurrence for each mode. Four secondary modes 25
26

•





FIGURE 6. Frequency distributions of slope azimuth for (a) the entire study area, and (b) the sheep winter habitat polygons. The radial lines represent 10° intervals of slope azimuth, the radial rings represent 0.5% frequency intervals, and the outer ring indicates 4% frequency. 27

,

FIGURE 7. Gray scale map of the slope azimuth distribution for the study area. North-facing slopes are black, west-facing slopes are dark gray, east-facing slopes are medium gray, south-facing slopes are light gray, and flat areas are white. are also evident (112.5° / 167.5°, 187.5°, and 237.5°) with approximately 2.5% frequency of occurrence for each mode. On the basis of the biologists' helicopter survey, it appears that sheep winter habitat is characterized by southwest- to southeast-facing slopes. Clipping levels of 110° and 260° (determined by simple inspection of the graph) were used to map the slope azimuth range describing winter habitat. Approximately 70% of the Dall's sheep winter habitat area was accounted for by the slope azimuth range (Table 4). Those grid cells contained within the clipped range were dislayed as a single-class map overlaid on the hillshaded map with the boundaries of the sheep habitat polygons added in white (Figure 8). Slope azimuth may be a stronger controlling factor than slope magnitude for the winter distribution of sheep because the slope azimuth distribution is better defined from the observational data than the slope magnitude distribution. The clipped slope azimuth range encompassed 38% of the study area (Table 4).

### Snow-free Sites

Snow-free sites were identified by level slicing (thresholding) Landsat TM band 1 (blue) data. The blue band was used because the shorter wavelengths are scattered more than the other wavelengths of visible radiation that interact with gas molecules in the earth's atmosphere (Lillesand and Kiefer, 1979). The scattered light present in the scene illuminated those areas in shadow enabling the detection of snow-free surfaces. Snow/no

28

-1



FIGURE 8. Single-class map of slope azimuth range defining Dall's sheep winter habitat overlaid in black on the hillshaded map of the study area. The boundaries of the habitat polygons are added in white. snow pixels were identified and located on a line-printer brightness map of TM band 1 data. Color photographs acquired during the March (1987) helicopter survey, single band images of each of the 7 Landsat bands, and normal color and color infrared composites were used as aids in this process. The threshold of snow was determined by examining the brightness values of individual pixels from representative samples of snow/no snow interfaces within the scene. Brightness values below 150 indicated snow-free areas and brightness values above 150 indicated snow-covered areas.

Non-forested, snow-free areas were difficult to distinguish from forested areas by level slicing. The mislabeling of forested sites as non-forested, snow-free sites was reduced by eliminating forested sites from the snow-cover labelling. The elimination of these sites was justified because Dall's sheep winter habitat lies above tree line (Nichols, 1979; Hoefs and Cowan, 1979). The upper limit of tree line occurs at approximately 1050 m within the study area (Oswald and Senyk, 1977). Using the DEM and the Landsat band 1 data, image grid cells with brightness values less than 150 and elevation grid cells with values greater than 1050 m were classified as snow free and non-forested. The locations of snow-free, non-forested pixels are shown in black on the hillshaded map (Figure 9). The boundaries of the sheep winter habitat polygons were overlaid in white on the single-class map  $_{\mathfrak{B}'}$ to show the location of the polygons relative to the snow-free, non-forested areas. Only 9.6% of the area covered by the Landsat image was snow free on March 17, 1987 (Table 4). Much of this



FIGURE 9. Single-class map of snow-free, non-forested sites shown in black overlaid on the hillshaded map of the study area. The boundaries of the habitat polygons are overlaid in white on the single class map. 

he at a

area, however, occurs within shadow and may not be snow free. The elimination of shadowed areas will be discussed later.

The digital mask was used to quantitatively define the characteristics of Dall's sheep winter habitat in terms of the areal extent of the snow cover. Approximately 12% of the area covered by the habitat polygons was snow free (Table 4). The northernmost polygon was excluded from the analysis as it fell outside of the area covered by the Landsat image. When each polygon was considered individually, only 16 of the 47 polygons exceeded a frequency of 10% snow free (Table 5); most of the polygons contained very few or no snow-free pixels. The snow-free parameter was not a significant factor in defining Dall's sheep winter habitat for this area at this time of year.

۵,

Snow depth cannot be ascertained using a single Landsat scene. Inferences concerning the depth of snow can be made as follows: (1) the presence of snow-free pixels within polygons may be indicative of thinning snow within those polygons, (2) the presence of snow-free pixels adjacent to polygons may be indicative of thinning snow within nearby polygons, (3) the absence of snow-free pixels within polygons or adjacent to polygons may indicate snow depth was not a controlling factor at this time of year. As shown in Figure 9, the majority of polygons met the first condition indicating that a majority of the polygons may contain thinning snow.

Habitat polygon	Snow-free pixels	Total pixels	% frequency snow-free	
1	19	66.	28.79	
· · · · ·	9	34	26.47	
23	19	106 <	17.92	
4	1	47	2.13	
4	2	40	5.00	
5	3	34	8.82	
o o	16	27	59.26	
7	0	363	0.00	
8 .		65	21.54	
9	14	251	9.16	
10	23	320	3.13	
11	10		100.00	
12	97	97	6.52	
13	6	92 140	16.43	
14	. 23		20.19	
15	85	421	9.62	
16	41	426	16.07	
17	27	168	1.18	
18	~ 3	255	0.68	
19	- 1 <b>1</b>	148	6.78	
20	4	59	6.94	
21	10	144	0.00	
22	0	157	0.00	
23	2	265	12.70	
24	8	63	24.07	
25	13	54	6.73	
26	15	223 224	0.89	
27	2		34.29	
28	441 🛔	1286	58.95	
29	56	95 73	31.51	
30	23	64	4.69	
31	3	70	7.14	
32		273	8.79	
33	24	346	0.58	
34	2	278	7.19	
35	20		8.56	
36	56	654 614	1.30	
37	8 11	190	5.79	
38		59	0.00	
39	0	71	4.23	
40	3 7	79	8.86	
41		305	10.16	
42	31	153	25.49	
43	39	305	0.33	
44	1	106	0.00	
45	0 4	289	1.38	
46 <b>4</b> 7	4 0	226	0.00	

TABLE 5 Frequency of Snow-free Pixels for Habitat Polygons

Ð,

6

۲.

.

33

.1

U

 $\mathbb{C}^{n}$ 

•

Č.

Identification of Potential Sheep Winter Habitat Areas

The process of map overlay and intersection of the terrain distributions and the snow-free distribution was employed to produce two maps: (1) a slope magnitude and slope azimuth intersection map, and (2) a slope magnitude, slope azimuth, and snow-free intersection map. The intersections of the defined ranges of slope magnitude (3° - 37°) and slope azimuth (110° -270°) characterizing sheep winter habitat were overlaid in black on the hillshaded map shown in Figure 10. The boundaries of the sheep habitat polygons in white were also included. This map differs very little from Figure 8 (the single-class map of slope azimuth) but differs markedly from Figure 5 (the single-class map of slope magnitude) indicating again that slope azimuth is a more significant controlling factor than slope magnitude. The combination of these 2 parameters encompassed 31% of the study area (Table 4). Sixty-six percent of the sheep winter habitat area was accounted for by the defined ranges of the combined slope azimuth/slope magnitude map. Those polygons which did not fall within the slope magnitude and slope azimuth ranges may be explained by other factors discussed later.

J

Map overlay and intersection of the slope azimuth and slope magnitude terrain distributions and the snow-frechistribution was used to create the single-class map shown in Figure 11. The single-class map was overlaid in black on the hillshaded map along with the boundaries of the sheep habitat polygons. The



FIGURE 10. Single-class map of slope magnitude and slope azimuth ranges characterizing Dall's sheep winter habitat overlaid in black on the hillshaded map of the study area. The boundaries of the habitat polygons are overlaid in white.



FIGURE 11. Single-class map of slope magnitude and slope azimuth ranges characterizing Dall's sheep winter habitat in conjunction with the snow-free, non-forested sites. The single class is shown in black on the hillshaded map of the study area and the habitat polygons are shown as white boundaries. defined ranges of these parameters accounted for 5% of the sheep winter area (Table 4). Very few areas fell within the slope magnitude and slope azimuth range characterizing Dall's sheep winter habitat that were also snow free. This combination essentially removed shadowed areas (north facing) from the snowfree, non-forested binary map (Figure 9), to produce a map representing the actual snow-free areas (1.5% of the study area refer to Table 4).

Snow depth was probably a greater controlling factor than absence or presence of snow in determining Dall's sheep winter habitat. Sheep can paw through snow to the vegetation if the snow is soft and shallow (Geist, 1971; Nichols, 1978; Hoefs and Cowan, 1979). The snow depth in March, 1987 was only 15 cm and the mean temperature (-12°C) was well below freezing (Table 2). The snow was likely thin and relatively soft allowing the sheep to . penetrate the snow cover to reach the underlying yegetation.

Landsat data may be useful for identifying probable areas of shallow snow if a temporal analysis strategy is adopted. Those areas that were snow free before or after the helicopter survey date were likely thinner than other areas. The snow was probably shallow around the snow-free areas, therefore snow-covered pixels adjacent to snow-free pixels likely contained thinning snow. Landsat data was not recorded for the study area immediately before the survey date and the image acquired immediately after the survey date was cloud covered, consequently this approach could not be tested. Without multitemporal imagery, it is not possible to distinguish between thin snow and deep snow using

possible to distinguish between thin snow and deep snow using Landsat data,

Slope azimuth appears to be the dominant controlling factor describing Dall's sheep winter habitat in the study area. The importance of slope azimuth is due to the relationship of vegetation, insolation, and wind to slope azimuth and the influence of insolation and wind on snow cover. The vegetation types consumed by sheep are found mainly on south-facing slopes which receive greater than usual insolation. In addition, the resulting melting combined with sublimation reduce the snow cover on these slopes. The predominant wind direction for March varies from the southeast to the south (Atmospheric Environment Service, 1982b), thus slopes with a south to southeast orientation will become wind blown resulting in thinner snow cover and snow-free sites.

The overall objective of this research was to develop spatial analysis techniques that would be useful for mapping Dall's sheep winter habitat. Figure 10 shows the best estimate of areas (in black) that meet the established criteria for Dall's sheep winter habitat. These potential habitat areas are based on the defined ranges of slope magnitude ( $3^{\circ} - 37^{\circ}$ ) and slope azimuth ( $110^{\circ} 260^{\circ}$ ). Although untested at this time, the mapping of potential sheep habitat areas may be useful (1) to predict areas for sheep relocation, (2) to provide information for input into land use decisions, (3) to implement protective measures for sheep habitat, (4) to assist habitat managers in planning flight routes for winter aerial surveys, and (5) to increase the understanding

### of ball's sheep habitat.

39

 $\bigcirc$ 

### V. SUNNARY

A method for habitat mapping and analysis using digital satellite data and digital terrain data has been presented. This method was used to quantitatively evaluate the three of four major parameters that define Dall's sheep winter habitat in a 3287 km area, located south of Whitehorse, Yukon Territory. The four major parameters are: (1) moderate to steep slopes, (2) south-facing slopes, (3) snow-free vegetated areas, and (4) proximity to escape terrain.

Slope azimuth and slope magnitude terrain data sets were developed and used to evaluate the first two parameters defining Dall's sheep winter habitat. The third parameter, snow-free areas, was identified using Landsat TM band 1 data registered to a regular grid of elevation values. The fourth parameter, proximity to escape terrain, was not investigated.

The process of map overlay and intersection was employed to identify potential sheep winter habitat areas. The results were as follows:

(1) Slope magnitude was not a limiting factor in determining Dall's sheep winter habitat  $(3^{\circ} - 37^{\circ})$ , however, the slope magnitude range eliminated some areas from consideration as potential habitats. The slope magnitude range encompassed 81% of the study area and accounted for 94% of the sheep winter habitat area.

(2) Slope azimuth was the dominant controlling factor in determining Dall's sheep <u>winter</u> habitat. This parameter accounted

for 70% of winter habitat polygons and encompassed 38% of the study area. Southwest- to southeast-facing slopes (110° - 260°) characterize sheep habitat. The dominance of slope azimuth is due to the relationship of vegetation, insolation, and wind to slope direction and the influence of insolation and wind on snow cover. The vegetation types consumed by sheep are found mainly on southfacing slopes. South-facing slopes receive intense insolation resulting in reduced snow cover due to sublimation and melting. Due to the predominant furthern wind during March, south-facing slopes become wind blown resulting in shallow snow and snow-free sites.

(3) Snow-free areas were not a significant factor for defining Dall's sheep winter habitat. Snow-free areas accounted for 5% of the winter habitat area and encompassed 1.5% of the study area. Snow depth may be a factor, but multitemporal Landsat imagery is required to identify probable areas of shallow snow. This technique could not be tested because multitemporal imagery was not available for the Watson/Wheaton planning region during the winter of 1987.

Ahern, F. J., 1979: Landsat radiometric calibration. <u>Remote</u> Sensing in Canada, 6(3): 5-6.

- Ahern, F. J. and Murphy, J., 1978: Radiometric calibration and correction of Landsat 1, 2, and 3 MSS data. Canada Centre for Remote Sensing Research Report 78-4. Department of Energy, Mines and Resources, Ottawa. 23 pp.
- Ahern, F. J., Brown, R. J., Cihlar, J., Gauthier, R., Murphy, J., Neville, R. A., and Teillet, P. M., 1987: Radiometric correction of visible and infrared remote sensing data at the Canadian Centre for Remote Sensing. <u>International Journal of</u> Remote Sensing, 8(9): 1349-1376.

Atmospheric Environment Service, 1982a: Canadian Climate Normals 1951 - 1980: Temperature and Precipitation. The North - Y.T. and N.W.T. Environment Canada, Downsview, Ont. 55 pp. Atmospheric Environment Service, 1982b: Canadian Climate Normals

1951 - 1980. Volume 5 - Wind. Environment Canada, Downsview,

Atmospheric Environment Service, 1987: Climate summary for the month of March 1987. Unpublished Report. Yukon Weather Office, Whitehorse, Yukon Territory.

Barichello, N./ 1987: Personal communication. Yukon Department of Renewable Resources, Fish and Wildlife Branch, Whitehorse, Yukon Territory.

Bonner, W. J., Jr., Rhode, W. G., and Miller, W. A., 1982: . Mapping wildland resources with digital Landsat and terrain data. <u>In:</u> Johannsen, C. J. and Sanders, J. L. (eds), <u>Remote</u> <u>Sensing for Resource Management</u>. Soil Conservation Society of America, 73-80.

- Craighead, J.J., Sumner, J. S., and Scaggs, G. B., 1982: A definitive system for analysis of grizzly bear habitat and other wilderness resources. Wildlife-Wildlands Institute Monograph, 1: 1-279.
- Craighead, J. J., Craighead, F. L., and Craighead, D. J., 1985: Using satellites to evaluate ecosystems as grizzly bear habitat. In: Contreras, G. and Evans, K. (eds), <u>Proceedings -</u> <u>Grizzly Bear Habitat Symposium</u>. U.S. Forest Service, Intermountain Research Station, 101-112.
- Dixon, R., Bowles, L., Knudsen, B., 1984: Moose habitat analysis in north-central Manitoba from Landsat data. <u>Proceedings of</u> the Eighth Canadian Symposium on Remote Sensing, 716-629.

Eyton, J. R., 1987a: NABOR: A program to calculate the differential geometry of a DEM. Unpublished Program. Department of Geography, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta.

- Eyton, J. R., 1987b: MASK: a vector to raster program. Unpublished Program. Department of Geography, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta.
- Eyton, J. R., 1988: Mapping the differential geometry of digital elevation models. Unpublished paper. Department of Geography, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta.

Eyton, J. R. and Hemenway, D. D., 1987: Roving multiquadric equation (RMQE). Unpublished Program. Department of V TO Geography, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta,

Formozov, A. N., 1946: Snow cover as an integral factor of the environment and its importance in the ecology of mammals and birds. Occasional Publication No.1, Boreal Institute, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta. 141 pp.

Geist, V., 1971: Mountain Sheep: A Study in Behavior and

Evolution. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press. 383 pp. Hardy, R. L., 1971: Multiquadric equations of topography and other irregular surfaces. Journal of Geophysical Research. 76(8): 1905-1915.

- Henderson, J., 1984: Application of remotely sensed digital data and a geographic information system in the National Wildlife Refuge planning process in Alaska. <u>Proceedings of the</u> <u>Eighteenth International Symposium on Remote Sensing of</u> <u>Environment</u>. Paris, France, 3: 1395-1403.
- Hoefs, M. 1974: Food selection by Dall's sheep (<u>Ovis dalli dalli</u> Nelson). <u>In:</u> Geist, V. and Walther, F. (eds), <u>The Behavior of</u> <u>Ungulates and its Relation to Management</u>. IUCN Publications New Series No. 24, Morges, <u>Ditzerland</u>, 759-786.

Hoefs, M., 1987: Personal contaction. Yukon Department of Renewable Resources, Fish Wildlife Branch, Whitehorse, Yukon Territory.

Hoefs, M. and Cowan, I. McT., 1979: Ecological investigations of a population of dall sheep (<u>Ovis dalli dalli Nelson</u>). <u>Syesis</u>, 12 (Supplement 1): 1-83. 44

Hoefs, M. and Barichello, N., 1985: Distribution, abundance and management of wild sheep in Yukon. <u>In:</u> Hoefs, M. (ed.), <u>Wild</u> <u>Sheep: Distribution, Albundance, Management and Conservation</u> <u>of the Sheep of the World and Closely Related Mountain</u> <u>Ungulates</u>. Special Report, Northern Wild Sheep and Goat Council, 16-34.

Holroyd, G. L., 1980: The biophysical inventory of Banff and Jasper National Parks. <u>In:</u> Taylor, D.G. (ed), Land/Wildlife Integration. Proceedings of a Technical Workshop to Discuss the Incorporation of Wildlife Information into Ecological Land Surveys. Ecological Land Classification Series No. 11, Lands Directorate, Environment Canada, 37-43.
Hutchinson, C. F., 1982: Techniques for Combining Landsat and

ancillary data for digital classification improvement. <u>Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing</u>, 48(1):123-130.

Ihemadu, S. O., 1965: Satellite remote sensing as a mapping tool. ITC Journal, 1985-3: 187-191.

Jacobsen. R., 1980: Wildlife and Wildlife habitat in the Great Slave and Great Bear Lake regions 1974 - 1977. In: Taylor, D.G. (ed). Land/Wildlife Integration. Proceedings of a Technical Workshop to Discuss the Incorporation of Wildlife Information Into Ecological Land Surveys. Ecological Land Classification Series No. 11, Lands Directorate, Environment Canada, 31-36. Jaques, D. R., 1982: Landsat mapping of snow cover to identify critical wildlife winter range. Alberta Remote Sensing Center Publication No. 82-3. Edmonton, Alberta. 11 pp.

LaPerriere, A. J., Lent, P. C., Cassaway, W. C., Nodler, F. A., 1980: Use of Landsat data for moose habitat analysis in Alaska. Journal of Wildlife Management, 44(4):881-887.

Lillesand, T. M. and Kiefer, R. W., 1979: <u>Remote Sensing and</u> <u>Image Interpretation</u>. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 612 pp. Nichols, L., 1978: Dall's Sheep. <u>In:</u> Schmidt, J. L. and Gilbert, D. L. (eds), <u>Big Game of North America</u>. Harrisburg: Stackpole Books, 173-189.

Oswald, E.T. and Senyk, D.P., 1977: Ecoregions of Yukon

Territory. Environment Canada, Canadian Forestry Service. 115

Richards, J. A., 1986: <u>Remote Sensing Digital Image Analysis.</u> New of York: Springer-Verlag, 281 pp.

Skogland, T., 1978: Character Stics of the snow cover and its relationship to wild mountain reindeer (<u>Rangifer tarandus</u> <u>tárandus</u> L.) feeding strategies. <u>Arctic and Alpine Research</u>, 10(3): 569-580.

Stefanovic, P. and Wiersema, G., 1985: Insolation from digital elevation models for mountain habitat evaluation. <u>ITC</u> Journal, 1985-3: 177-186.

Stelfex, H. A., 1980: Mapping Critical Habitat in Agricultural Saskatchewan. <u>In</u>: Taylor, D. G. (ed), Land/Wildlife

Integration. Proceedings of a Technical Workshop to Discuss the Incorporation of Wildlife Information into Ecological Land Surveys, Ecological Land Classification Serges No. 11. Lands Directorate, Environment Canada, 51-59.

- Telfer, E. S. and Kelsall, J. P., 1979: Studies of morphological parameters affecting ungulate locomotion in snow. <u>Canadian</u> <u>Journal of Zoology</u>, 57(11): 2153-2159.
- Thompson, D. C. Klassen, G. H., and Cihlar, J. 1980: Caribou habitat mapping in the southern District of Keewatin, N.W.T.: an application of digital Landsat data. <u>Journal of Applied</u> <u>Ecology</u>, 17: 125-138.
- Wahl, H. E., Fraser, D. B., Harvey, R. C., and Maxwell, J. B., 1987: <u>Climate of Yukon.</u> Minister of Supply and Services Canada, Canadian Government Publishing Centre. Ottawa, Canada. 323 pp.

Wiersema, G., 1983: Ibex habitat analysis using Landsat imagery. ITC Journal, 1983-2: 139-147.

(<sup>1</sup>





The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. AVIS

La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumisé au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, tests publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

Digital Mapping Techniques to Determine Dall's Sheep Winter Habitat in the

Yukon Territory

BY-

Lauren K. Crooks

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF Master of Science

Department of Seography

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

Fall, 1988

Permission has been granted to the National Library of Canada to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.

The author (copyright owner) has reserved other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her written permission. L'autorisation a été accordée à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.

L'auteur (titulaire du droit d'auteur) se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni là thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci. ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation écrite.

ISBN '0-315-45762-7

# THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

### RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR Lauren K. Crooks

TITLE OF THESIS Digital Mapping Techniques to Determine Dall's

Sheep Winter Habitat in the Yukon Territory DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESENTED Master of Science

YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED 1988

Permission is hereby granted to THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific purposes

only.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

(SIGNED) Lauren Critto

PERMANENT ADDRESS: .#806,.111.11.87th Ave .Edmonton, alberta .T.6G. 0X9.

DATED. Oct. 13 19.88

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled Digital Mapping Techniques to Determine Dall's Sheep Winter Habitat in the Yukon Territory submitted by Lauren K. Crooks in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science.

Date: .. Oct. 7./88..

ABSTRACI

The four major parameters defining Dall's sheep (Ovis dalli dalli) winter habitat are: (1) moderate to steep slopes, (2) south-facing slopes, (3) snow-free vegetated areas, and (4) proximity to escape terrain. This study compared known sheep wintering areas to digital terrain data and winter Landsat data to determine the limits of the first three parameters. Proximity to escape terrain was not investigated. Slope azimuth and slope magnitude terrain data sets were developed and used to determine the limits of the first two parameters. Snow-free areas were identified using Landsat Thematic Mapper band 1 (blue) data registered to a regular digital elevation model. A map overlay and intersection technique was used to map combinations of these parameters. The results were as follows: (1) slope magnitude (3° - 37°) was not a limiting factor in determining Dall's sheep winter habitat, however, the slope magnitude range eliminated some areas from consideration; (2) slope azimuth (110° - 260°) was the dominant controlling factor in determining Dall's sheep winter habitat; (3) snow-free areas were not a significant factor for defining Dall's sheep winter habitat. Snow depth may be a factor, but temporal Landsat data is required to define this parameter.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Ron Eyton, for inspiration, support and encouragement. Thanks also to my other two committee members, Dr. Greg Henry and Bill Wishart, for their interest and constructive critisism.

I would like to acknowledge the Yukon Department of Renewable Resources for their financial support through purchase of my bandsat data and for providing the data from the March, 1987 Dall's sheep winter habitat survey. The Yukon Weather Office kindly provided Yukon weather data. Thanks to Harry Stelfox (Alberta Fish and Wildlife) for valuable input during the early stages of my thesis and to Manfred Hoefs and Norman Barichello (Yukon Fish and Wildlife) for sharing their knowledge of Dall's sheep in the Yukon.

The technical computer knowledge and assistance so patiently given by Dan Hemenway and Randy Pakan's efficient and quality photographic assistance, especially when time was of the essence, were greatly appreciated.

Thanks to my fellow members of the "Round Ron Fan Club" Who provided camaraderie and to my other friends in Geography. A special thanks to Beth Hawkings for her support and keen interest in my thesis and to Ross McLachlan for help when it was most

needed.

Finally, thank you to my family for their moral support and understanding during my Master's program.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER		(*	<u> </u>	PAGE
I IN	TRODUCTION	• • • • • • • • • • • • • •		••• 1 •
II WI	LDLIFE HABITAT	••••	*. * * * * * * * * * *	3 🖕
	Background			
, ,	Dall's Sheep Winter Habit	at	• • • • • • • •	6
· 	Watson/Wheaton Study Area		• • • • • • • • •	8
III DA				•
•	Bigital Terrain Data	1		
	Habitat Polygons			
	Landsat Data			•
IV A	NALYSIS AND MAPPING OF DALL'S	S SHEEP WINTE	R HABITA	<b>.T</b> 19
	Slope, gnitude			•
	Slope Azimuth	•		25
	Snow-free Sites	•		
•	Identification of Potent: Winter Habitat Areas	ial Sheep 		
V S	UMMARY	• • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	40
REFERE	ENCES CITED			

· vi

## LIST OF TABLES

Tabl		Page
<b>1.</b>	Average Climate Data for Carcross, Yukon Territory (1951-1980)	10
2.	March, 1987 Weather Summary for Carcross, Yukon Territory	11
3.	Average March Wind Data for Whitehouse, Yukon Territory (1953-1978)	, 12
4.	Areal Extent of Habitat Parameters	23
5.	Frequency of Snow-free Pixels for Habitat Polygons	33

¥

### LIST OF FIGURES

#### Figure

1.

3

Perspective plot of the smoothed DEM with 5X vertical exaggeration. The viewing perspective is from the SSE (azimuth=157.5°) at an observer altitude of 60°.

- Digital mask overlaid in black on a hillshaded map. Illumination is from the northwest (azimuth=315°) at a solar altitude of 45°.
- Frequency distributions of slope magnitude for (a) the entire study area, and (b) the sheep winter habitat polygons.
- Gray scale map of the slope magnitude distribution for the study area. Light tones indicate steep slopes and dark tones indicate gentle slopes.
- Single class map showing the distribution of slope magnitude characterizing Dall's sheep winter habitat in black. The boundaries of the habitat polygons are overfaid in white.
- 6. Frequency distributions of slope azimuth for (a) the entire study area, and (b) the sheep winter habitat polygons. The radial lines represent 10° intervals of slope azimuth, the ràdial rings represent 0.5% frequency intervals, and the outer ring indicates 4% frequency.
- 7. Gray scale map of the slope azimuth distribution for the study area. North-facing slopes are black, west-facing slopes are dark gray, east-facing slopes are medium gray, south-facing slopes are light gray, and flat areas are white.
- 8. Single Class map of slope/azimuth range defining Dall's sheep winter habitat overlaid in black on the hillshaded map. The boundaries of the habitat polygons are added in white.

Page

15

17

22<sup>.</sup>

21 .

24

27

26

- 9. Single class map of inow-free, non-forested sites shown in black overlaid on the hillshaded map. The boundaries of the habitat polygons are overlaid in white on the single class map.
- 10. Single class map of slope magnitude and slope azimuth ranges characterizing Dall's sheep winter habitat overlaid in black on the hillshaded map. The boundaries of the habitat polygons are overlaid in white.
- 11. Single class map of slope magnitude and slope azimuth ranges characterizing Dall's sheep winter habitat and the snow-free, non-forested sites. The single class is shown in black on the hillshaded map and the habitat polygons are shown as white boundaries.

ix

36

31

### I. INTRODUCTION

The identification of important wildlife habitats in the . Yukon Territory has been limited by the vast areal extent of the land, the inaccessibility, and the associated costs of conducting field work in remote locations. Professional wildlife management has a history of less than twenty years in the Yukon Territory (Hoefs and Barichello, 1985). Demands on the land in terms of land use development, utilization of renewable and non-renewable resources, and native land claims are increasing. Land planners and wildlife managers urgently need quality base-level data at various scales to incorporate into the decision making process.

Present methods of information gathering on wildlife habitats are time consuming and costly (Holroyd, 1980; Jacobsen, 1980; Stelfox, 1980), and the existing data are unorganized and not easily retrieved. More efficient methods are required for effective management. The integration of digital satellite data with digital terrain data for habitat mapping would be an appropriate methodology for the Yukon Territory. Digital databases acquired with this new technology are easily updated and permit automated data analysis. Information extraction is consistent, accurate, and cost-effective. Overall, there is a smaller primary data acquisition cost, the information is relatively easy to acquire, and data are available for large inaccessible areas for any season of the year.

This thesis demonstrates how digital mapping techniques can be applied to the spatial analysis of Dall's sheep (Ovis dalli \_

<u>dalli</u>) winter habitat, in the Yukon Territory. The overall objective of the research was to investigate the integration of digital terrain data with digital satellite data as a tool for habitat management. Specific objectives involved the development and analysis of digital databases for the quantitative evaluation and modeling of Dall's sheep winter habitat, and included the following:

1. to develop terrain data sets describing the distributions of slope magnitude and slope azimuth;

2. to use the terrainedata sets to obtain the quantitative parameters defining Dall's sheep winter habitat;

3. to determine snow-free areas from digital satellite

4.\* to identify potential sheep winter habitat areas using the process of map overlay and intersection of the terrain distributions (slope magnitude and slope azimuth) and the snow-

## IL. WILDLIFE HABITAT

#### Background

Hapitat maps are used to delineate areas which provide all of the requirements necessary for the survival and prosperity of a species. Conventional mapping and analysis of habitat has been comprised mainly of field work, interviewing of knowledgeable people, low-altitude aerial surveys, interpretation of aerial photographs, and manual data analysis (Holroyd, 1980; Jacobsen, 1980; Stelfox, 1980). These techniques are labor-intensive and expensive.

Recently, satellite imagery has been recognized as an economical and laborsaving alternative to conventional data gathering methods for habitat mapping and analysis. Geometrically-corrected digital satellite imagery provides a cost-effective means for incorporating resource data into the planning and management processes (Henderson, 1984; Ihemadu, 1985). Digital satellite data has been used to evaluate the vegetation component of habitats for mammals, such as moose in Alaska (Laperriere et al., 1980) and Manitoba (Dixon et al., 1984), caribou in the Northwest Territories (Thompson et al., 1986), and grizzly bear in Montana and Alaska (Craighead et al., 1985). Digital terrain data has mainly been used as a tool in habitat mapping to improve classification accuracy of digital satellite data (e.g. Hutchinson, 1982). For example, Craighead et al. (1982) used digital terrain data to separate Landsat-derived
vegetation zones by elevation for the mapping of grizzly bear habitat in Montana.

To achieve truly representative habitat maps for alpine mammals, relevant ancillary terrain data (elevation, slope magnitude, and slope azimuth) must be incorporated into the habitat classification and mapping process. A study conducted by Stefanovic and Wiersema (1985) in the European Alps, demonstrated the utility of digital terrain data for modeling insolation as the principal parameter in alpine ibex habitat. Terrain parameters were more important to this species of wild goat than vegetation types (Stefanovic and Wiersema, 1985). Similarly, Dall's sheep distributions are also considerably influenced by terrain parameters (Nichols, 1978). After an exhaustive search of the literature, only one example could be found of the digital mapping of terrain and land-cover components of habitat using integrated satellite image data and terrain data. Bonner et al. (1982) used elevation, slope magnitude, and Landsat-derived vegetation data sets to produce a map of potential bighorn sheep habitat.

Most of the published literature concerning the incorporation of digital satellite data into habitat mapping has utilized summer imagery to provide vegetation information. Comparatively little work has been undertaken using digital winter imagery for snow-cover mapping. Snow cover is one of the most significant factors governing the survival of northern ungulates (Formozov, 1946; Pruitt, 1959; Skogland, 1978; Telfer and Kelsall, 1979), and thus the identification of snow-free areas is imperative information needed for proper management practices (Jaques, 1982). Wiersema (1983), in a study focused on ibex habitat, employed three techniques for detection of snow-free areas in a Landsat Multispectral Scanner System (MSS) scene acquired over the French and Italian Alps. These techniques included: (1) an unsupervised approach to digital classification to locate snowfree migration routes; (2) a visual interpretation of Landsat band 5 (red) brightness maps to determine snow-cover boundaries and transient snow lines; and (3) a visual interpretation of false colour composites to locate snow-free vegetated areas. Jaques (1982) investigated four techniques for identifying nonforested snow-free areas as potential critical winter habitat for native ungulates in the Rocky Mountains of Alberta using Landsat MSS data. The four image analysis techniques were: (1) the visual interpretation of color infrared composite images; (2) single theme density slicing for each MSS band; (3) an unsupervised approach to multispectral cluster analysis; and (4) a multitemporal classification approach where a summer scene way used to classify non-forested areas and a winter scene was used to identify snow-free areas. Jaques (1982) concluded that the fourth approach produced the most accurate maps of critical winter range.

## Dall's Sheep Winter Habitat

Dall's sheep along with Stone's sheep (<u>Ovis dalli</u> <u>stonei</u>) are subspecies of the thinhorn species (<u>Ovis dalli</u>) of North American sheep (Nichols, 1978). Dall's sheep are found in Alaska, the Yukon Territory, the Northwest Territories, and the extreme northwestern part of British Columbia (Nichols, 1978). The Yukon Territory contains the "Targest wild sheep population of any jurisdiction in Canada" (Hoefs and Barichello, 1985:16). Hoefs and Barichello (1985) estimated the Dall's sheep population in the Yukon Territory at 19,000.

Dall's sheep habitat lies almost entirely above tree line and consists of steep, dry, south-facing grassland slopes interspersed with broken cliffs and talus slopes (Geist, 1971; Hoefs, 1974; Nichols, 1978; Hoefs and Cowan, 1979). There are four major parameters that define Dall's sheep winter habitat (Hoefs, pers.comm., 1987; Barichello, pers. comm., 1987): (1) moderate to steep slopes, (2) southfacing slopes, (3) snow-free vegetated areas, and (4) proximity to escape terrain (Geist, 1971; Hoefs, 1974; Nichols, 1978; Hoefs and Cowan, 1979). These parameters have all been previously expressed in qualitative terms. This thesis addressed the first three parameters defining winter habitat using digital terrain data and satellite data.

The vegetation types associated with Dall's sheep

winter habitat were not examined in this study. The major vegetation types consumed by Dall's sheep are associated with dry, exposed, alpine grasslands (Hoefs and Cowan, 1979). These grassland associations are found mainly on south-facing slopes, and therefore the identification of the vegetation component is a consequence of the identification of south-facing slopes. The fourth parameter, proximity to escape terrain, was also excluded from this project. Digitally defining and quantifying escape terrain is a complex process and warrants a separate study. No such study has yet been attempted.

Winter is one of the most critical times in the life cycle of Dall's sheep. From late winter until spring very little food is available and the sheep depend heavily on stored body fat for nutritional needs. During this period the population is concentrated in areas where snow-free feeding sites are found in close proximity to escape terrain (Nichols, 1978; Hoefs and Cowan, 1979). Winter range is limited by snow conditions to a very small portion of the overall range (Nichols, 1978). In early winter the snow is soft and sheep can paw through to the vegetation (Geist, 1971; Nichols, 1978; Hoefs and Cowan, 1978). In late winter,

however, the snow is often wind packed and ppenetrable. Consequently, in late winter sheep depend on the steep, south-facing, and/or wind-scoured ridges that remain snow free (Nichols, 1978; Hoefs and Cowan, 1979), making this the

critical time to detect snow-free areas.

# Watson/Wheaton Study Area

The study area is situated within the planning region designated by the Yukon Department of Renewable Resources as the Watson/Wheaton Pilot Project. A helicopter survey conducted within this region during March, 1987 served as the basis for this research. The study area is located approximately 25 km south of the city of Whitehorse, and is bounded in the south by the British Columbia/Yukon Territory border. Located between latitudes 60°00' and 60°30' north and between longitudes 134°44' and 135°48' west, this 3267 km<sup>2</sup> area encompasses approximately one quarter of the National Topographic Series (NTS) 1:250,000 map 105D. Dimensions of the study area are 55 km in the north-south direction by 59.4 km in the east-west direction.

Situated within the Coast Mountains Ecoregion (Oswald and Senyk, 1977), the terrain is very rugged, ranging in elevation from 650 m asl at Lake Bennett to over 2500 m asl in the southern part of the mountains with several icecovered peaks above 2400 m asl. The Coast Mountains Ecoregion falls within the discontinuous scattered permafrost subzone, much of the areas lies above treeline (Oswald and Senyk, 1977), and the climate is subarctic continental (Wahl et al., 1987). A low sun angle and long winter nights are typical for this latitude with less than six hours of sunshine received on December 21 at a maximum solar elevation of 6° (Wahl et al/., 1987).

In Carcross, the nearest meteorological station to the study area, the average annual snowfall is 101.3 cm, with most snow falling between November and March (Table 1). January is the coldest month with temperatures averaging -19.8 °C (range -15.1 °C to -24.8 °C). The mean March temperature is -8.3 °C (-1.8 °C to -14.8 °C) with a mean snowfall of 10.2 cm (Atmospheric Environment Service, 1982a). Average snow-depth data is not available for Carcross.

Table 2 contains a summary of the weather data for March 1987, the period pertaining to this study. The mean temperature during March, 1987 was -12.0 °C (range 6.0 °C to -35.5 °C) with 7 cm of snow falling for a total snow depth of 15 cm (Atmospheric Environment Service, 1987). According to Wahl et al. (1987), snow depths reach their maximum by early to mid-April at elevations greater than 1000 m in the southern part of the Yukon Territory. The closest meteorological station with wind data is Whitehorse. In March, the prevailing wind direction varies from southeast to south, with average wind speeds of 19.7 km/h from the southeast and 17.2 km/h from the south (Table 3). Dominant wind directions over the interior Yukon Territory coincide mainly with the valley orientations (Wahl et al., 1987).

> , ,

													.
•		к. 14				2	Month						•
	Jan.	Feb.	Mar.	Apr.	May	June	July	Aug.	Sept	Oct	Nov.	Dec	Year
Daily maximum temperature (°C)	-15.1	L.L-	-1.8	5.6	11.5	16.7	18.9	17.9	12.3	5.1	-3.9	-3.9 -11.2	4.0
Daily minimum temperature (°C)	-24.8	-18.7	-14.8	-5.9	-0.5	4.6	6.4	4.9	1.4	-3.2	-12.0	-19.8	6.9
Daily mean temperature (°C)	-19.8	-13.2	-8 .3	-0.2	5.5	10.7	12.7	11.4	6.9	0.9	-7.9	-15.5	-1.4
Rainfall (mm)	0.2	1.0	0.0	1.8	11.5	14.9	19.2	21.2	19.8	12.8	4.7	<b>11.6</b>	118.7
Snowfall (cm)	24.2	17.8	10.2	4.3	0.3	0.4	0.0	0.0	2.4	4.8	18.2	18.7	101.3
Total * precipitation (mm)	19.4	16.5	12.6	6.5	11.8	15.0	19.2	21.2	21.8	20.4	22.9	24.1	211.4
Days with mecinitation	Ŷ	9	4	° ∩	4	9	7	7.	7	٢	• •	00	13

٠.,

. .

ίο.

•

1

Source: Atmospheric Environment Service (1982a).

0

•

	TABLE 2         March, 1987 Weather Summary         for Carcross, Yukon Territory					
	Snowfall (cm)	7.0				
	Snowdepth (cm)	15.0				
	Maximum temperature (°C)	6.0				
1	Minimum temperature (°C)	-35.5				
	Mean temperature (°C)	-12.0				

11

and a

Source: Atmospheric Environment Service (1987).

2

词。

Wind direction	% frequency	Average wind speed (km/h)
NNE	0.6	12.3
NE	0.3	<b>•</b> 6.3
ENE	0.1	9.7
E	0.5	. 10.6
ESE	1.6	18.0
SE	14.9	19.8
SSE	17.8	20.2
S	14.7	16.8
SSW a	2.3	16.1
SW	2.4	11.9
WSW	1.6	10.9
• <b>W</b>	3.2	8.7
WNW	2.3	9.9
' NW	11.4	13.6
NNW	6.7	14.9
N	7.3	13.5
Calm	12.3 👌	
All directions	<i>"</i>	14.3

	TABLE 3	
Average	March Wind D	ata for
Whitehorse, Y	ukon Territory	(1953-1978)

Source: Atmospheric Environment Service (1982b)

# III. DATABASE DEVELOPMENT

## · Digital Terrain Data

Digital topographic information in the form of a generated grid of elevations or a digital elevation model (DEM) was required for this research. A portion of a 1:250,000 National Topographic Series (NTS) map was digitized using the Interactive Graphic Design System (IGDS) software developed by the Intergraph Corporation, running on a VAX-11/730 minicomputer. Each 500 foot contour was digitized using point mode sampling. Large flat areas were supplemented by digitizing additional contours and points from 1:50,000 NTS maps of the area.

The digitized lines, comprised of X and Y coordinates and their associated Z (elevation) values, resulted in a total of. 27383 sets of triplets. To create a regular grid of elevation values, these triplets were surfaced using a multiquadric equation algorithm based on an analytical interpolation approach developed by Hardy (1971) and implemented in roving form by Eytoh and Hemenway (1987). The number of calculations performed by this surfacing routine is quite extensive; approximately 23 hours of CPU time on a VAX-11/730 were required. The resulting DEM contained 550 rows and 594 columns with each grid cell covering a 100 m by 100 m area on the ground. Multiquadric surfacing was used because the equations were designed for topographic expression where the fitted surface must pass through all of the observation points exactly.(Hardy, 1971). The DEM was then

smoothed once using a low-pass spatial filter to remove local irregularities. Figure 1 shows a perspective plot of the smoothed DEM. Latitude, longitude, and north are indicated on this figure. Where appropriate, the rest of the figures are oriented with north at the top.

Derivative products obtained from the DEM supplied the necessary information regarding landscape geometry. Slope magnitude and slope azimuth data sets were derived from the smoothed DEM using an algorithm developed by Eyton (1987a). This algorithm employs the method of finite differences applied to a 3 x 3 neighborhood to obtain the slope magnitude and slope azimuth components of the first spatial derivative. The derived data sets were identical in size and locational reference to the original grid of elevation values. These data sets were used to quantify the first two parameters defining Dall's sheep winter habitat: slope magnitude and slope azimuth. A hillshaded map, based on a Lambertian reflectance model (Eyton, 1988), was created from the slope and azimuth data sets and used as a map base for most of the illustrations presented in this study.

### Habitat Polygons

Dall's sheep winter habitat areas (polygons) were delineated on a 1:100,000 topographic map during a helicopter survey conducted by Yukon Territorial Government biologists on March 19 and 25, 1987. The helicopter survey covered all known winter ranges of Dall's sheep within the study area (Hoefs, pers. comm.,

FIGURE 1. Perspective plot of the smoothed DEM (with 5X vertical exaggeration) of the Watson/Wheaton study area, Yukon Territory. The viewing perspective is from the SSE (azimuth=157.5°) at an observer altitude of  $60^{\circ}$ .

60°00'N

·4.55.

1987). This survey was described by Hoefs (pers. comm., 1987) as a complete but low intensity survey; the entire area' was flown, but with only a single pass. In this survey, the locations of the polygons were based on sightings of sheep or concentrations of tracks. The field expertise of the biologist was of paramount importance in determining the polygon boundaries. Areas which Yukon biologists indicated were marginal winter habitat were excluded from this study.

Forty-eight polygons from the 1:100,000 map were digitized, and a binary (sheep/no sheep) digital mask was produced using a vector-to-raster procedure (Eyton, 1987b). The digital mask registered with the digital terrain data sets. Figure 2 shows the digital mask overlaid on the hillshaded map to indicate the location of the Dall's sheep winter habitat polygons. The digital mask was used to extract information for the winter habitat polygons from the digital elevation model and from the slope magnitude and slope azimuth derivative models.

#### Landsat Data

62

A Landsat Thematic Mapper (TM) image (#51111-193421) was obtained for March 17, 1987. The satellite pass occurred two days prior to the winter aerial survey from which the sheep winter habitat polygons were delineated. The Landsat digital data was used to identify snow-free areas within the study area. The image data was initially processed using the CAL 3 linear radiometric calibration process at the Prince Albert Satellite Station. This



procedure retains the majority of the dynamic range of brightness values, providing improved coverage of bright and dark extremes (Ahern and Murphy, 1978; Ahern, 1979; Ahern et al., 1987). To achieve registration with the other digital data sets, the image quadrant was subset and geometrically corrected to a Universal Transverse Mercator projection. The pixels were resampled to 100 m grid cells using nearest-neighbor interpolation; overall accuracy of the registration was approximately 33 meters (the difference between the estimated and the actual row and column coordinates of the 18 ground control points in the original image). The nearest-neighbor method is the preferred technique if the new image is to be classified since it then consists of the original pixel brightnesses, simply rearganged in position to give a correct image geometry" (Richards, 1986:53). These transformations, were conducted at the Alberta Remote Sensing Center using the DIPIX LCT-11 (ARIES 11) digital image analysis

18

# system.

The Landsat TM quadrant encompassed the majority of the study area, excluding the extreme northeast corner. Data dropours in lines or groups of pixels were present in all bands due to equipment failure during transmission from satellite to receiving station. One particularly large dropout, 16 entire lines, was flagged to indicate missing data. IV. ANALYSIS AND MAPPING OF DALL'S SHEEP WINTER HABITAT

24.67

Two objectives of this research were to quantitatively define (1) the terrain limits, and (2) the snow-free areas for Dall's sheep winter habitat. Once these quantitative parameters were established, a map overlay and intersection process was used to achieve the third and final objective; (3) the identification of potential sheep winter habitat areas in the study area. A brief overview of the procedure is given below to clarify the detaileddiscussion which follows.

The digital mask, indicating the location of Dall's sheep from the March, 1987 aerial survey, was used to extract the slope magnitude and slope azimuth values characterizing sheep habitat from the terrain data sets. These distributions were first plotted as histograms and the limits defining the range of each distribution was determined by removing outliers. These outliers were likely due to measurement error, however, even if they were not, removal was justified because there is a low probability of their occurrence. The limits defining the maximum and minimum of this range are called clipping levels or threshold values. This project involved the overlay and intersection of multiple data layers, therefore, a liberal approach for determining clipping levels was adopted. The slope magnitude and slope azimuth ranges, and snow-free sites characterizing sheep winter habitat were then used to identify potential winter areas within the study area for sheep which were not identified in the March, 1987 aerial surgey.

#### Slope Magnitude

The distribution of slope magnitude values for each grid cell of the study area (Figure 3a) shows an abundance of gentle slopes and comparatively few steep slopes. Within the study area there is a marked concentration of slopes with less than 10° magnitude and a very low frequency of slopes above 45°. The steepest slopes within the region are approximately 56° magnitude. A gray scale map of the slope magnitude distribution for the entire area is shown in Figure 4.

The slope magnitude distribution characterizing sheep winter habitat (Figure 3b) differs markedly from the distribution of slope signitude for the entire study area (Figure 3a). The histo am in Figure 3b shows a positively skewed distribution, a pronounced mode with a frequency of 4.4% occurring at 23°, and a large variation about the mode. Removal of data outliers was accomplished by excluding slope values having a frequency of occurrence of less than 1% resulting in approximately 2% and 4% of the slope magnitude observations being excluded from the left and right ends of the distribution, respectively. This 1%frequency cutoff produced a slope magnitude range of 3° to 37°. This range was characteristic of approximately 94% of the Dall's sheep winter habitat area (Table 4). Grid cells with values between 3° and 37° were extracted from the slope magnitude data set and displayed as a black tone. The boundaries (in white) of the sheep winter habitat polygons were overlaid on the singleclass map shown in Figure 5. This map shows the areal extent of



FIGURE 3. Frequency distributions of slope magnitude for (a) the entire study area, and (b) the sheep winter habitat polygons.



FIGURE 4. Gray scale map of the slope magnitude distribution for the study area. Light tones indicate steep slopes and dark tones indicate gentle slopes.

Habitat para <b>nin</b> ter(s)	% of polygon area accounted for by habitat parameter	% of study area encompassed by habitat parameter
Slope magnitude*	94.1	80.7
Slope azimuth**	70.4	37.6
Snow-free, non-forested areas	12.1	9.6
Slope magnitude*/ slope azimuth**	68.7	30.6
Slope magnitude*/slop azimuth**/snow-free, , non-forested areas	e 4.9	1.5
* range: 3* - 37*		

TABLE 4 Areal Extent of Habitat Parameters

**\*\*** range: 110° - 260°

 $\bigcirc$ 





FIGURE 5. Single-class map of the study area showing the distribution of slope magnitude characterizing Dall's sheep winter habitat in black. The boundaries of the habitat polygons are overlaid in white.

the slope magnitude range characterizing sheep winter habitat. The range of acceptable slope magnitude values is quite large, encompassing 81% of the study area (Table 4), thus slope magnitude was not an important parameter for defining winter habitat within this area. The slope magnitude range, however, did eliminate some areas from consideration as potential sheep winter habitat in the last part of the analysis.

# Slope Azimuth

 $|W_{i}\rangle$ 

The percent frequency of grid cells (covering the entire study area) for each degree of slope azimuth was plotted as a circular histogram (Figure 6a). The distribution indicates that the topography is not predominantly oriented in a specific direction, however, there is a slight tendency for slopes to be northwest or southeast oriented. A gray scale map of slope azimuth for the entire area is shown in Figure 7. This gray scale map illustrates the global variation of slope azimuth within the study area and corroborates what is shown in the histogram; no dominant orientation is apparent.

The frequency of slope azimuth grid cells characterizing Dall's sheep winter habitat were plotted as a circular histogram in Figure 6b. In contrast to Figure 6a, this graph exhibits a very pronounced trend of south-facing slopes, especially southwest-facing slopes. Inspection of the graph indicates two primary modes occurring at 127.5° and 142.5° with approximately .3.5% frequency of occurrence for each mode. Four secondary modes 25







.



FIGURE 6. Frequency distributions of slope azimuth for (a) the entire study area, and (b) the sheep winter habitat polygons. The radial lines represent 10° intervals of slope azimuth, the radial rings represent 0.5% frequency intervals, and the outer ring indicates 4% frequency.

26

) . I

27



1. 1.

FIGURE 7. Gray scale map of the slope azimuth distribution for the study area. North-facing slopes are black, west-facing slopes are dark gray, east-facing slopes are medium gray, south-facing slopes are light gray, and flat areas are white. are also evident (112.5° / 167.5°, 187.5°, and 237.5°) with approximately 2.5% frequency of occurrence for each mode. On the basis of the biologists' helicopter survey, it appears that sheep winter habitat is characterized by southwest- to southeast-facing slopes. Clipping levels of 110° and 260° (determined by simple inspection of the graph) were used to map the slope azimuth range describing winter habitat. Approximately 70% of the Dall's sheep winter habitat area was accounted for by the slope azimuth range (Table 4). Those grid cells contained within the clipped range were dislayed as a single-class map overlaid on the hillshaded map with the boundaries of the sheep habitat polygons added in white (Figure 8). Slope azimuth may be a stronger controlling factor than slope magnitude for the winter distribution of sheep because the slope azimuth distribution is better defined from the observational data than the slope magnitude distribution. The clipped slope azimuth range encompassed 38% of the study area (Table 4).

#### Snow-free Sites

Snow-free sites were identified by level slicing (thresholding) Landsat TM band 1 (blue) data. The blue band was used because the shorter wavelengths are scattered more than the other wavelengths of visible radiation that interact with gas molecules in the earth's atmosphere (Lillesand and Kiefer, 1979). The scattered light present in the scene illuminated those areas in shadow enabling the detection of snow-free surfaces. Snow/no 28.



FIGURE 8. Single-class map of slope azimuth range defining Dall's sheep winter habitat overlaid in black on the hillshaded map of the study area. The boundaries of the habitat polygons are added in white. snow pixels were identified and located on a line-printer brightness map of TM band 1 data. Color photographs acquired during the March (1987) helicopter survey, single band images of each of the 7 Landsat bands, and normal color and color infrared composites were used as aids in this process. The threshold of snow was determined by examining the brightness values of individual pixels from representative samples of snow/no snow interfaces within the scene. Brightness values below 150 indicated snow-free areas and brightness values above 150 indicated snow-covered areas.

Non-forested; snow-free areas were difficult to distinguish from forested areas by level slicing. The mislabeling of forested sites as non-forested, snow-free sites was reduced by eliminating forested sites from the snow-cover labelling. The elimination of these sites was justified because Dall's sheep winter habitat lies above tree line (Nichols, 1979; Hoefs and Cowan, 1979). The upper limit of tree line occurs at approximately 1050 m within the study area (Oswald and Senyk, 1977). Using the DEM and the Landsat band 1 data, image grid cells with brightness values less than 150 and elevation grid cells with values greater than 1050 m were classified as snow free and non-forested. The locations of snow-free, non-forested pixels are shown in black on the hillshaded map (Figure 9). The boundaries of the sheep winter habitat polygons were overlaid in white on the single-class map or to show the location of the polygons relative to the snow-free. non-forested areas. Only 9.6% of the area covered by the Landsat image was snow free on March 17, 1987 (Table 4). Much of this



FIGURE 9. Single-class map of snow-free, non-forested sites shown in black overlaid on the hillshaded map of the study area. The boundaries of the habitat polygons are overlaid in white on the single class map.

4 = 2

۶

area, however, occurs within shadow and may not be snow free. The elimination of shadowed areas will be discussed later.

The digital mask was used to quantitatively define the characteristics of Dall's sheep winter habitat in terms of the areal extent of the snow cover. Approximately 12% of the area covered by the habitat polygons was snow free (Table 4). The

۵,

northernmost polygon was excluded from the analysis as it fell outside of the area covered by the Landsat image. When each polygon was considered individually, only 16 of the 47 polygons exceeded a frequency of 10% snow free (Table 5); most of the polygons contained very few or no snow-free pixels. The snow-free parameter was not a significant factor in defining Dall's sheep winter habitat for this area at this time of year.

Snow depth cannot be ascertained using a single Landsat scene. Inferences concerning the depth of snow can be made as follows: (1) the presence of snow-free pixels within polygons may be indicative of thinning snow within those polygons, (2) the presence of snow-free pixels adjacent to polygons may be indicative of thinning snow within nearby polygons, (3) the absence of snow-free pixels within polygons or adjacent to polygons may indicate snow depth was not a controlling factor at this time of year. As shown in Figure 9, the majority of polygons met the first condition indicating that a majority of the polygons may contain thinning snow.

Habitat polygon	Snow-free pixels	Total pixels	% frequency snow-free
1	19	66.	28.79
2	9	34	26.47
23	19	106 <	17.92
· 4	1	47	2.13
4	2	40	5.00
5	3	34	8.82
o o	16	27	59.26
7	0	363	0.00
8 .		65	21.54
9	14	251	9.16
10	23	320	3.13
11	10	97	100.00
12	97		6.52
13	6	92 140	16.43
14	. 23		20.19
15	85	421	9.62
16	41	426	16.07
17	27	168	1.18
18	~ 3	255	0.68
19	- 1 <b>1</b>	148	6.78
20	4	59	6.94
21	10	144	0.00
22	0	157	0.00
23	2	265	12.70
24	8	63	24.07
25	13	54	6.73
26	15	223 224	0.89
27	2	1286	34.29
28	441	95	58.95
29	56 23	73	31.51
30	25	64	4.69
31	5	70	7.14
32		273	8.79
33	24 2	346	0.58
34		278	7.19
35	20	654	8.56
36	56 8	614	1.30
37	11	190	5.79
38	0	59	0.00
39	3	71	4.23
40	3 7	79	8.86
41	31	305	10.16
42	39	153	25.49
43	39 1	305	0.33
44	0	106	0.00
45 46	4	289	1.38
40 <b>4</b> 7	<b>0</b>	226	0.00

TABLE 5 Frequency of Snow-free Pixels for Habitat Polygons

Ð,

6

۲.

.

33

.1

 $\mathbb{C}^{n}$ 

•

Č.

Identification of Potential Sheep Winter Habitat Areas

The process of map overlay and intersection of the terrain distributions and the snow-free distribution was employed to produce two maps: (1) a slope magnitude and slope azimuth intersection map, and (2) a slope magnitude, slope azimuth, and snow-free intersection map. The intersections of the defined ranges of slope magnitude  $(3^{\circ} - 37^{\circ})$  and slope azimuth  $(110^{\circ} - 37^{\circ})$ 270°) characterizing sheep winter habitat were overlaid in black on the hillshaded map shown in Figure 10. The boundaries of the sheep habitat polygons in white were also included. This map differs very little from Figure 8 (the single-class map of slope azimuth) but differs markedly from Figure 5 (the single-class map of slope magnitude) indicating again that slope azimuth is a more significant controlling factor than slope magnitude. The combination of these 2 parameters encompassed 31% of the study area (Table 4). Sixty-six percent of the sheep winter habitat area was accounted for by the defined ranges of the combined slope azimuth/slope magnitude map. Those polygons which did not fall within the slope magnitude and slope azimuth ranges may be explained by other factors discussed later.

Map overlay and intersection of the slope azimuth and slope magnitude terrain distributions and the snow-frechistribution was used to create the single-class map shown in Figure 11. The single-class map was overlaid in black on the hillshaded map along with the boundaries of the sheep habitat polygons. The



FIGURE 10. Single-class map of slope magnitude and slope azimuth ranges characterizing Dall's sheep winter habitat overlaid in black on the hillshaded map of the study area. The boundaries of the habitat polygons are overlaid in white.



FIGURE 11. Single-class map of slope magnitude and slope azimuth ranges characterizing Dall's sheep winter habitat in conjunction with the snow-free, non-forested sites. The single class is shown in black on the hillshaded map of the study area and the habitat polygons are shown as white boundaries. defined ranges of these parameters accounted for 5% of the sheep winter area (Table 4). Very few areas fell within the slope magnitude and slope azimuth range characterizing Dall's sheep winter habitat that were also snow free. This combination essentially removed shadowed areas (north facing) from the snowfree, non-forested binary map (Figure 9), to produce a map representing the actual snow-free areas (1.5% of the study area refer to Table 4).

Snow depth was probably a greater controlling factor than absence or presence of snow in determining Dall's sheep winter habitat. Sheep can paw through snow to the vegetation if the snow is soft and shallow (Geist, 1971; Nichols, 1978; Hoefs and Cowan, 1979). The snow depth in March, 1987 was only 15 cm and the mean temperature (-12 °C) was well below freezing (Table 2). The snow was likely thin and relatively soft allowing the sheep to . penetrate the snow cover to reach the underlying vegetation.

Landsat data may be useful for identifying probable areas of shallow snow if a temporal analysis strategy is adopted. Those areas that were snow free before or after the helicopter survey date were likely thinner than other areas. The snow was probably shallow around the snow-free areas, therefore snow-covered pixels adjacent to snow-free pixels likely contained thinning snow. Landsat data was not recorded for the study area immediately before the survey date and the image acquired immediately after the survey date was cloud covered, consequently this approach could not be tested. Without multitemporal imagery, it is not possible to distinguish between thin snow and deep snow using

possible to distinguish between thin snow and deep snow using Landsat data,

Slope azimuth appears to be the dominant controlling factor describing Dall's sheep winter habitat in the study area. The importance of slope azimuth is due to the relationship of vegetation, insolation, and wind to slope azimuth and the influence of insolation and wind on snow cover. The vegetation types consumed by sheep are found mainly on south-facing slopes which receive greater than usual insolation. In addition, the resulting melting combined with sublimation reduce the snow cover on these slopes. The predominant wind direction for March varies from the southeast to the south (Atmospheric Environment Service, 1982b), thus slopes with a south to southeast orientation will become wind blown resulting in thinner snow cover and snow-free sites.

The overall objective of this research was to develop spatial analysis techniques that would be useful for mapping Dall's sheep winter habitat. Figure 10 shows the best estimate of areas (in black) that meet the established criteria for Dall's sheep winter habitat. These potential habitat areas are based on the defined ranges of slope magnitude ( $3^{\circ} - 37^{\circ}$ ) and slope azimuth (110° -260°). Although untested at this time, the mapping of potential sheep habitat areas may be useful (1) to predict areas for sheep relocation, (2) to provide information for input into land use decisions, (3) to implement protective measures for sheep habitat, (4) to assist habitat managers in planning flight routes for winter aerial surveys, and (5) to increase the understanding

#### sheep habitat. of 8 Da

.\

**Q**)

.

 $\bigcirc$ 

#### V. SUXXARY

A method for habitat mapping and analysis using digital satellite data and digital terrain data has been presented. This method was used to quantitatively evaluate the three of four major parameters that define Dall's sheep winter habitat in a 3287 km area, located south of Whitehorse, Yukon Territory. The four major parameters are: (1) moderate to steep slopes, (2) south-facing slopes, (3) snow-free vegetated areas, and (4) proximity to escape terrain.

Slope azimuth and slope magnitude terrain data sets were developed and used to evaluate the first two parameters defining Dall's sheep winter habitat. The third parameter, snow-free areas, was identified using Landsat TM band 1 data registered to a regular grid of elevation values. The fourth parameter, proximity to escape terrain, was not investigated.

The process of map overlay and intersection was employed to identify potential sheep winter habitat areas. The results were as follows:

(1) Slope magnitude was not a limiting factor in determining Dall's sheep winter habitat  $(3^{\circ} - 37^{\circ})$ , however, the slope magnitude range eliminated some areas from consideration as potential habitats. The slope magnitude range encompassed 81% of the study area and accounted for 94% of the sheep winter habitat area.

(2) Slope azimuth was the dominant controlling factor in determining Dall's sheep winter habitat. This parameter accounted

\* for 70% of winter habitat polygons and encompassed 38% of the study area. Southwest- to southeast-facing slopes (110° - 260°) characterize sheep habitat. The dominance of slope azimuth is due to the relationship of vegetation, insolation, and wind to slope direction and the influence of insolation and wind on snow cover. The vegetation types consumed by sheep are found mainly on southfacing slopes. South-facing slopes receive intense insolation resulting in reduced snow cover due to sublimation and melting. Due to the predominant furthern wind during March, south-facing slopes become wind blown resulting in shallow snow and snow-free sites.

(3) Snow-free areas were not a significant factor for defining Dall's sheep winter habitat. Snow-free areas accounted for 5% of the winter habitat area and encompassed 1.5% of the study area. Snow depth may be a factor, but multitemporal Landsat imagery is required to identify probable areas of shallow snow. This technique could not be tested because multitemporal imagery was not available for the Watson/Wheaton planning region during the winter of 1987.

#### REFERENCES CITED

Ahern, F. J., 1979: Landsat radiometric calibration. <u>Remote</u> Sensing in Canada, 6(3): 5-6.

Ahern, F. J. and Murphy, J., 1978: Radiometric calibration and correction of Landsat 1, 2, and 3 MSS data. Canada Centre for Remote Sensing Research Report 78-4. Department of Energy, Mines and Resources, Ottawa. 23 pp.

Ahern, F. J., Brown, R. J., Cihlar, J., Gauthier, R., Murphy, J., Neville, R. A., and Teillet, P. M., 1987: Radiometric correction of visible and infrared remote sensing data at the Canadian Centre for Remote Sensing. <u>International Journal of</u> Remote <u>Sensing</u>, 8(9): 1349-1376.

Atmospheric Environment Service, 1982a: Canadian Climate Normals

1951 - 1980: Temperature and Precipitation. The North - Y.T. and N.W.T. Environment Canada, Downsview, Ont. 55 pp.

Atmospheric Environment Service, 1982b: Canadian Climate Normals

1951 - 1980. Volume 5 - Wind. Environment Canada, Downsview,

- Atmospheric Environment Service, 1987: Climate summary for the month of March 1987. Unpublished Report. Yukon Weather Office, Whitehorse, Yukon Territory.
- Barichello, N. / 1987: Personal communication. Yukon Department of Renewable Resources, Fish and Wildlife Branch, Whitehorse, Yukon Territory.

Bonner, W. J., Jr., Rhode, W. G., and Miller, W. A., 1982:

- Mapping wildland resources with digital Landsat and terrain data. <u>In:</u> Johannsen, C. J. and Sanders, J. L. (eds), <u>Remote</u> <u>Sensing for Resource Management</u>. Soil Conservation Society of America, 73-80.
- Craighead, J.J., Sumner, J. S., and Scaggs, G. B., 1982: A definitive system for analysis of grizzly bear habitat and other Wilderness resources. Wildlife-Wildlands Institute Monograph, 1: 1-279.
- Craighead, J. J., Craighead, F. L., and Craighead, D. J., 1985: Using satellites to evaluate ecosystems as grizzly bear habitat. <u>In:</u> Contreras, G. and Evans, K. (eds), <u>Proceedings -</u> <u>Grizzly Bear Habitat Symposium</u>. U.S. Forest Service,

Intermountain Research Station, 101-112.

- Dixon, R., Bowles, L., Knudsen, B., 1984: Moose habitat analysis in north-central Manitoba from Landsat data. <u>Proceedings of</u> <u>the Eighth Canadian Symposium on Remote Sensing</u>, 716-629.
  Eyton, J. R., 1987a: NABOR: A program to calculate the differential geometry of a DEM. Unpublished Program. Department of Geography, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta.
- Eyton, J. R., 1987b: MASK: a vector to raster program. Unpublished Program. Department of Geography, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta.
- Eyton, J. R., 1988: Mapping the differential geometry of digital elevation models. Unpublished paper. Department of Geography, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta.

Eyton, J. R. and Hemenway, D. D., 1987: Roving multiquadric equation (RMQE). Unpublished Program. Department of V TO Geography, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta,

Formozov, A. N., 1946: Snow cover as an integral factor of the environment and its importance in the ecology of mammals and birds. Occasional Publication No.1, Boreal Institute, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta. 141 pp.

Geist, V., 1971: Mountain Sheep: A Study in Behavior and

Evolution. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press. 383 pp. Hardy, R. L., 1971: Multiquadric equations of topography and other irregular surfaces. Journal of Geophysical Research. 76(8): 1905-1915.

- Henderson, J., 1984: Application of remotely sensed digital data and a geographic information system in the National Wildlife Refuge planning process in Alaska. <u>Proceedings of the</u> <u>Eighteenth International Symposium on Remote Sensing of</u> <u>Environment</u>. Paris, France, 3: 1395-1403.
- Hoefs, M. 1974: Food selection by Dall's sheep (<u>Ovis dalli dalli</u> Nelson). <u>In:</u> Geist, V. and Walther, F. (eds), <u>The Behavior of</u> <u>Ungulates and its Relation to Management</u>. IUCN Publications New Series No. 24, Morges, <u>Ditzerland</u>, 759-786.

Hoefs, M., 1987: Personal contaction. Yukon Department of Renewable Resources, Fish Wildlife Branch, Whitehorse, Yukon Territory.

Hoefs, M. and Cowan, I. McT., 1979: Ecological investigations of a population of dall sheep (<u>Ovis dalli dalli Nelson</u>). <u>Syesis</u>, 12 (Supplement 1): 1-83. 44

Hoefs, M. and Barichello, N., 1985: Distribution, abundance and management of wild sheep in Yukon. <u>In:</u> Hoefs, M. (ed.), <u>Wild</u> <u>Sheep: Distribution, Albundance, Management and Conservation</u> <u>of the Sheep of the World and Closely Related Mountain</u> <u>Ungulates</u>. Special Report, Northern Wild Sheep and Goat Council, 16-34.

Holroyd, G. L., 1980: The biophysical inventory of Banff and Jasper National Parks. <u>In:</u> Taylor, D.G. (ed), Land/Wildlife Integration. Proceedings of a Technical (\*)
Workshop to Discuss the Incorporation of Wildlife Information into Ecological Land Surveys. Ecological Land Classification Series No. 11, Lands Directorate, Environment Canada, 37-43.
Hutchinson, C. F., 1982: Techniques for combining Landsat and ancillary data for digital classification improvement. <u>Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing</u>, 48(1):123-130.

Ihemadu, S. O., 1965: Satellite remote sensing as a mapping tool. ITC Journal, 1985-3: 187-191.

Jacobsen. R., 1980: Wildlife and Wildlife habitat in the Great Slave and Great Bear Lake regions 1974 - 1977. <u>In:</u> Taylor, D.G. (ed). Land/Wildlife Integration. Proceedings of a Technical Workshop to Discuss the Incorporation of Wildlife Information Into Ecological Land Surveys. Ecological Land Classification Series No. 11, Lands Directorate, Environment Canada, 31-36. Jaques, D. R., 1982: Landsat mapping of snow cover to identify critical wildlife winter range. Alberta Remote Sensing Center Publication No. 82-3. Edmonton, Alberta. 11 pp.

LaPerriere, A. J., Lent, P. C., Cassaway, W. C., Nodler, F. A., 1980: Use of Landsat data for moose habitat analysis in Alaska. Journal of Wildlife Management, 44(4):881-887.

Lillesand, T. M. and Kiefer, R. W., 1979: <u>Remote Sensing and</u> <u>Image Interpretation</u>. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 612 pp. Nichols, L., 1978: Dall's Sheep. <u>In:</u> Schmidt, J. L. and Gilbert, D. L. (eds), <u>Big Game of North America</u>. Harrisburg: Stackpole Books, 173-189.

Oswald, E.T. and Senyk, D.P., 1977: Ecoregions of Yukon

Territory. Environment Canada, Canadian Forestry Service. 115

Richards, J. A., 1986: <u>Remote Sensing Digital Image Analysis.</u> New of York: Springer-Verlag, 281 pp.

Skogland, T., 1978: Character Stics of the snow cover and its relationship to wild mountain reindeer (<u>Rangifer tarandus</u> <u>tárandus</u> L.) feeding strategies. <u>Arctic and Alpine Research</u>, 10(3): 569-580.

Stefanovic, P. and Wiersema, G., 1985: Insolation from digital elevation models for mountain habitat evaluation. <u>ITC</u> Journal, 1985-3: 177-186.

Stelfox, H. A., 1980: Mapping Critical Habitat in Agricultural Saskatchewan. <u>In</u>: Taylor, D. G. (ed), Land/Wildlife

Integration. Proceedings of a Technical Workshop to Discuss the Incorporation of Wildlife Information into Ecological Land Surveys, Ecological Land Classification Series No. 11. Lands Directorate, Environment Canada, 51-59. Telfer, E. S. and Kelsall, J. P., 1979: Studies of morphological parameters affecting ungulate locomotion in snow. <u>Canadian</u> Journal of Zoology, 57(11): 2153-2159.

Ψ.

Thompson, D. C. Klassen, G. H., and Cihlar, J. 1980: Caribou habitat mapping in the southern District of Keewatin, N.W.T.: an application of digital Landsat data. <u>Journal of Applied</u> <u>Ecology</u>, 17: 125-138.

Wahl, H. E., Fraser, D. B., Harvey, R. C., and Maxwell, J. B., 1987: <u>Climate of Yukon.</u> Migrister of Supply and Services Canada, Canadian Government Publishing Centre. Ottawa, Canada. 323 pp.

Wiersema, G., 1983: Ibex habitat analysis using Landsat imagery. ITC Journal, 1983-2: 139-147.